IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EMILIA CARR,)	
)	
)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NUMBER SC11-476
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
	_)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 254-3758 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using a Roman numeral to designate the volume followed by the appropriate Arabic number designating the pertinent pages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 9, 2009, the spring term grand jury, Fifth Judicial Circuit, in and for Marion County, returned a two-count indictment charging Joshua Damian Fulgham and Emilia Lily Carr, the appellant, with the first-degree murder and kidnapping of Heather Strong. (I 1). On April 28, 2009, the State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (I 31).

Appellant filed several pleadings attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. See e.g., (II 260-390; III 391-587). Following a pretrial hearing, the trial court denied the majority of Appellant's motions. (XV 28-72). The pertinent motions will be discussed infra.

On November 9, 2010, Appellant filed a notice of intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation. (IV 623-6).

On November 23, 2010, the State filed a motion in limine to preclude a Appellant from introducing evidence of statements that Joshua Fulgham, Appellant's codefendant, made to any witness concerning his participation in the murder of Heather Strong. (V 824).

All parties stipulated to the severance of Appellant's case from her codefendant, Joshua Fulgham. (XXVI). The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Willard Pope. On the morning of the final day of jury selection, Appellant moved for a continuance which the trial court denied. (XXXI 393).

At the close of the State's evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal, which the trial court denied. (XXXIX 1708-13).

During Appellant's case-in-chief, the trial court excluded, as hearsay, evidence relating to Appellant's codefendant's involvement with the victim, specifically a certified copy of an injunction and accompanying affidavit. (XXXIX 1794-7). The trial court also excluded, on the same basis, evidence of Appellant's codefendant 2004 arrest report for battery on the murder victim. (XXXIX 1797).

Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts. (VII 1264-5). The trial court adjudicated Appellant guilty of the two offenses. (VII 1263).

A penalty phase convened on December 8, 2010. (XLI 1967). At the beginning of the penalty phase, the court granted the State's motion in limine, thus excluding evidence relating to Appellant's codefendant. (XLI 1972-1).

Following deliberations, the jury recommended, by a bare majority sevento-five vote, that Appellant be put to death for the murder of Heather Strong. (VIII 1370; XL 1956).

On February 17, 2011the trial court heard additional testimony and evidence

at the Spencer¹ hearing. (II 340-490).

On February 22, 2011, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the first-degree murder and to a consecutive life sentence for the kidnapping. (X 1892-1904, 1927-55).

The trial court found three aggravating circumstances:

- (1) the capital felony was committed while Carr was engaged in the commission of the kidnapping of the victim, Heather Strong-great weight;
- (2) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel-great weight;
- (3) the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification-great weight.

The trial court considered the statutory mitigating factors, concluding that only one applied; Emilia Carr has no significant history of criminal activity. The trial court gave that factor significant weight. (X 1937-9). The trial court considered but rejected three statutory mitigating factors, i.e., Carr's age of twenty-four; Carr acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of Josh Fulgham; Carr was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance.(X 1937-9).

As for the nonstatutory mitigating factors, the trial court found:

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

- (1) Carr was raised in a poor home environment-little weight;
- (2) Carr had an unprotecting mother who sometimes chose the man in her life over the care of her children-little weight;
- (3) Carr was raised in a dysfunctional family-little weight;
- (4) Carr was bright, a good student, and graduated high school-little weight;
- (5) Carr was a good mother-little weight;
- (6) Carr was a good daughter-little weight;
- (7) Carr performed community service and charitable/humanitarian deeds-little weight;
- (8) Carr regularly attended church and Bible study while growing up-little weight;
- (9) Carr completed modeling school-little weight;
- (10) Carr completed massage therapy school-little weight;
- (11) Carr participated in ROTC in high school-little weight;
- (12) Carr was a "child" mother who gave birth to her first child at the tender age of seventeen-little weight;
- (13) Carr was a single parent-little weight;
- (14) Carr is bilingual-little weight;
- (15) the murder was an isolated, one-time incident-some weight;
- (16) the mental health expert's testimony supports a life sentence-little weight;

- (17) the presentence investigation report recommends consecutive life sentencessome weight;
- (18) life in prison, without possibility of parole, meets the needs of society and is therefore appropriate-some weight;
- (19) the jury recommendation for death was a bare majority of seven to five-little weight;
- (20) Carr has the support of friends and family-little weight;
- (21) Carr was sexually abused as a child by her grandfather and her father, which resulted in her removal from the home after she reported the abuse-little weight;
- (22) Carr was seven-months pregnant and was experiencing a high-risk pregnancy at the time of the offense-little weight;
- (23) Carr voluntarily gave statements to law enforcement and was generally cooperative-little weight;
- (24) Carr did not flee from law enforcement even after becoming aware that she was likely a suspect-little weight.
- (X 1940-52). The trial court rejected some mitigating factors, either finding that they were not proven or were not true mitigation, specifically:
- (1) Carr is intelligent-not mitigating;
- (2) Josh Fulgham, the codefendant, manipulated and controlled Carr-not proven;

- (3) Josh Fulgham played the victim, Heather Strong, and Carr against each othernot proven;
- (4) Carr is immature and wanted a relationship-not proven;
- (5) Joshua Fulgham, the codefendant, actually killed Heather Strong-not proven;
- (6) Carr's statements are the only proof of her involvement in the crimes-not proven and not mitigating;
- (7) Carr did not intend for the kidnapping or murder to occur-not proven.(X 1945-51).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on February 23, 2011. (X 1908). This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt/Innocence Phase

State's Case-in-Chief

This case involves a love triangle in rural Marion County. Appellant's codefendant, Josh Fulgham, and his wife, Heather Strong (the victim), moved from their native Mississippi to Marion County in 2003. Heather and Josh had a very stormy, off-and-on relationship. They also had two children together. Eventually, Emilia Carr, the appellant, became sexually and romantically involved with Joshua Fulgham. Ultimately, Josh and Emilia had a child together. Emilia was pregnant with her second child by Josh, when the murder occurred. Josh and Emilia's relationship was stormy as well. Josh tended to stay with Heather until they fought. He would then move in with Emilia. This pattern continued over the course of several years. (XXXIII 739-749). These two stormy relationships ultimately culminated in the murder of Heather Strong.

Heather Strong worked at the Iron Skillet restaurant located in the Petro station in Reddick, Florida. Brenda Smith, Heather's boss, knew of the tumultuous relationship between Heather and Josh. In the fall of 2008, Heather was living with Ben McCollum² and appeared to be a very happy woman. On December 26,

² McCollum described how Josh interfered with his own relationship with Heather.

2008, Heather and Josh suddenly got married. Six days later, Josh threatened to kill Heather and was arrested. Josh remained in the county jail for approximately one month.

Shortly before Josh was released from jail, two men (law enforcement), came by the Petro station and talked to Heather about Josh. After the meeting, Brenda Smith gave Heather some advice. She strongly suggested that Heather not agree to Josh's release, pointing out that "he is really going to kill you when he gets out." Smith also advised Heather, "You don't tell somebody what you're going to do. You just do it. You know, because of the way he is, you know, why would you ever tell him you are taking the kids and leaving." (XXXIII 659).

During her morning shift on Sunday, February 15,2009, Strong received an "emergency" phone call, after which she expressed concern about her children.

After the call, Strong told her boss, "It was Josh." (XXXIII 648-53). Strong left work that day at 3:00 p.m., the conclusion of her shift. Brenda Smith never saw Heather again.

Shortly after Josh had been jailed for his assault on Heather, several

Josh had thrown rocks at McCollum's house. He had also cursed at him through his window and confronted him with a firearm. (XXXIII 668-70, 672-3). On the day Heather went missing, McCollum had declined her invitation to rekindle their relationship.(XXXIII 671).

³There was evidence throughout the trial that Heather intended to leave Josh and

members of the "group" ⁴ were drinking at the mobile home shared by Heather and Josh. Josh and his mother had prepared a letter for Heather to rewrite, ostensibly to get the charges dropped and get Josh released from jail. Emilia presented the letter to Heather but she refused to cooperate. According to witnesses, Emilia became angry, grabbed Heather by the hair, and briefly held a knife to her throat in an attempt to force the issue. Cooler heads prevailed and the incident dissipated. Everyone agreed that alcohol was a factor in the incident. The pair subsequently reconciled their differences and were civil, even friendly. (XXXIII 674-80, 691).

Jason Lotshaw grew up with Emilia and Jamie Acome. Shortly before Josh was released from jail, Heather moved in with James "Jamie" Acome. 688-Heather put the deposit on the apartment using a check she received from the women's rape crisis center, presumably the result of Josh's domestic violence. (XXXIII 688). On February 15, 2009, Acome babysat Heather's two children while she worked her morning shift at the Iron Skillet. She came home following work and Acome left to run some errands. When he returned home around eight o'clock that evening, Heather and her children were gone. He subsequently received a phone call from Josh Fulgham, apparently telling him that he and Heather were back together. As a

move back to Mississippi with all of her children, including the two by Josh. ⁴Emilia, Josh, Heather, Christy Stover, Jason Lotshaw, and James Acome (who has three felony convictions) socialized with each other, having many connections.

result of that call, Acome moved out of the apartment. He never saw Heather again. (XXXIII 680-87).

Emilia's Threats Against Heather

During Josh's incarceration that January, 2009, Emilia was socializing with Jason Lotshaw and Acome, both friends with whom she had grown up. During a drive to the store to buy diapers, Emilia offered \$500 to Lotshaw and Acome if they got Heather Strong drunk, so that Emilia could kill her by snapping her neck. (XXXIII 700-3). At the time of his testimony, Lotshaw was in jail, charged with burglary and grand theft. Although he was looking at 20 years, the prosecutor had offered him five years. The state attorney's office could not make any promises, even if he testified at Emilia's trial.

James Acome's sister-in-law, Christie Stover, met Emilia when she moved into the trailer park. Stover's younger brother was good friends with Josh Fulgham. During the month of January, when Josh was incarcerated in the county jail, Emilia called Stover several times. Emilia was upset that Heather had falsely accused Josh, resulting in his incarceration. Emilia professed her love for Josh and wanted him released. She told Christie that she was willing to pay \$500 for someone to kill Heather. She stated that she would do it herself, but could not

move the body due to her advanced pregnancy. Stover admitted that she did not take Emilia seriously. Emilia had recently received her income tax refund, and everyone was trying to get a piece of it. (XXXIII, 721-32).

Heather Goes Missing

When Josh Fulgham was released from the county jail on February 6, 2009, he went to live with his mother, Judy Chandler. (XXXIII 750). On Sunday afternoon, February 15, Chandler had composed a letter apparently at Josh's request. The letter was a document for Heather to sign giving custody of their two children to Josh. (XXXIII 750-3; State's Exhibit 4). Later that day, Chandler returned home and saw Josh and Heather driving out of her driveway in Josh's car. When Chandler went inside, she discovered that the couple had left their children, McKinzie and Zachary with her. (XXXIII, 750-6). Josh returned to his mother's house about 8:30 or 9:00 that night. He had the document that Heather purportedly signed. In spite of Josh's insistence, Chandler maintained it was not Heather's signature. (XXXIII 752-6). Two days later, Chandler and Josh used the letter to register McKinzie at a new school close to Chandler's home. On that same day, Emilia moved into Chandler's house with Josh. The couple moved out a week or so later into a nearby trailer park. (XXXIII 753-6).

Misty Strong, Heather's cousin who still lived in Mississippi, began to worry

when she could not get in touch with Heather. Misty knew that Heather and Josh had continuing problems in their relationship. Josh was very controlling and did not want Heather to have contact with her family. While she was with Josh, Heather had no cell phone or computer access. Eventually, Misty contacted the Marion County Sheriff's office and expressed her concern. (XXXIII 732-9, 779-84). Deputy Billings of the Marion County Sheriff's office began the investigation. She interviewed Heather's current boyfriend, James Acome. She learned of Josh Fulgham's relationship with Heather and also found out about Josh's arrest in January for aggravated assault with Heather as the victim. After speaking to several other friends and coworkers, including Josh Fulgham, she issued a bolo for Heather Strong as a missing person. (XXXIII 779-84).

Appellant's Interviews with Law Enforcement

Beginning March 18, 2009, Appellant gave several interviews to detectives at the Marion County Sheriff's office. While some personnel interviewed Emilia in one room, others were interviewing Josh Fulgham in a separate interview room. At various times during the numerous interviews, which lasted over several days, Emilia was transported back and forth between the police station and her home. Additionally, some of the interviews were over the telephone, when Emilia called various detectives. (XXXIV 801-902; States Exhibit 13, 14, 15, and 16). Initially,

Emilia told police that she had no knowledge of Heather's whereabouts or fate.

She told police that Josh knocked on her bedroom window early Monday morning,

February 16, and told her that he loved her.

Using information gleaned from interviews of Josh, detectives repeatedly confronted Emilia, urging her to tell the complete truth. Eventually, Emilia told police that Josh had confessed to her that he killed Heather in the storage trailer that was parked on the back edge of Emilia's mother's house, where Emilia also lived with her children. Emilia explained that she did not initially tell the detectives this story, because she thought that Josh was "full of crap", and she did not believe him. Josh had told her that the alligators in Orange Lake would devour Heather's body, leaving no trace. (XXXIV 845-55).

Meanwhile, Josh, who was under arrest, offered to lead police to the spot where he buried the body. Josh led them to Emilia's mother's house; police received consent to search from Emilia's mother; and they obtained a search warrant. Police dug where Josh directed and recovered Heather Strong's decomposing body. (XXXIV 869-72). Dr. Barbara Wolf, the medical examiner, performed the autopsy and could not determine the cause of death. The only injury the doctor found was a small bruise on Heather's forehead. This was a result of some type of blunt force trauma that was in no way a life-threatening injury.

(XXXV 1019-20). Dr. Wolf then reviewed police reports and interviews of witnesses and suspects. Using that information, Dr. Wolf opined that Heather's death was caused by suffocation. (XXXV 995-1038). Heather had a bloodalcohol level of .099. (XXXV 1037-38). Evidence recovered at the burial and the trailer revealed no physical evidence tying Emilia to the murder. (XXXV 1041-1093; XXXVI 1098-1133).

Detectives continued to conduct interviews of Emilia. She implied that she knew more information than she was giving them. She repeatedly asked for immunity in exchange for testimony that she could provide as a witness, although not a participant in the crime. Emilia eventually added to her first account of Josh knocking on her window early that morning. After telling her he loved her, Josh warned Emilia not to go in the back or to let anyone else go back there. Finding that strange, Emilia went into the trailer and found Heather's body, duct taped to a chair. When Josh returned that evening, Emilia yelled at him and told him to get rid of the body. Emilia never dreamed that Josh would bury Heather's body in her mother's yard. Josh explained that he had lured Heather to the trailer with the promise of hidden money. Once in the trailer, he confronted her about leaving the state with his children and killed her. (XXXVI 1152-1270). Emilia subsequently admitted that Josh had called her on the night of the murder, telling her of his plan.

She did not believe that he would go through with it. (XXXVII 1311-6). Emilia continued to participate in interviews with law enforcement, both in person and on the phone. Law enforcement contacted Josh's sister, Michele Gustafson, who agreed to wear a "wire" in an attempt to elicit incriminating statements from Emilia. While police listened, Michele took him Emilia for a ride to a park in Alachua County. After much prompting and prodding, Emilia explained that Josh tricked Heather into coming to the trailer by telling her that Emilia had hidden some money there. Josh arrived at Emilia's house with Heather in the car. As Josh had instructed, Emilia remained inside her house for several minutes. When Emilia entered the trailer, Josh was confronting Heather about having him jailed. Heather continued to threaten to return to Mississippi the children. Josh hit Heather in the head with a broken flashlight. Heather attempted to run out of the trailer. In doing so, she knocked Emilia over. Josh dragged her back and began duct taping her to a chair. Josh told Heather that she had cost him everything. They placed the garbage bag over Heather's head. They tried to break Heather's neck, figuring it would be quick and painless. Heather suffocated as a result of the garbage bag. Emila and Josh buried the body in the back yard. Josh forced Heather to sign the children's custody letter before killing her. Emilia repeatedly emphasized that Josh needed to keep his mouth shut, so that everyone could get

their stories straight. Emilia also repeatedly expressed her surprise that Josh carried out his plan. When he talked about it, Emilia never took him seriously. (XXXVIII 1446-1526).

Once the police heard the conversation between Emilia and Michele, they brought Emilia to the sheriff's office where they confronted her with the recording. Emilia told police a factual version fairly consistent with what she told Michele. She admitted to being a principal to the murder, in that she was present, did nothing to stop it, and assisted as Josh ordered her. Emilia explained that, at most, she helped Josh tape Heather to the chair. Based on Josh's order, she made a halfhearted attempt to break Heather's neck. Emilia failed because she was shaking so badly. Josh brought her to the trailer; Josh hit her with a flashlight; Josh taped the garbage bag, that Emilia put over Heather's head; and Josh ultimately kill her by placing his hand over the garbage bag where it covered her mouth and nose. (XXXVIII 1526-1653; State's Exhibit 16).

Defense Case-in-Chief

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