## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-476

EMILIA L. CARR

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_\_

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX-(386)226-0457

#

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

## ARGUMENT

# I. THE "ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE" CLAIMS

On pages 29-39 of her brief, Carr sets out what she calls a "complex evidentiary" issue. The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1039 (Fla. 1981); General Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 118 S.Ct. 512, 517, 139 L.Ed.2d 508 (1997) (stating that all evidentiary rulings are reviewed for "abuse discretion."). The issue is not complex at all, and there is no error for the reasons set out below.

#### THE SCHOOL RECORDS

Carr's first claim is that it was error to admit a business record of the Marion County school system which listed the defendant as an "emergency contact" for co-defendant Fulgham's school-age children. This is relevant circumstantial evidence because the children's mother was the murder victim, and the contact information change was made some two days after she was killed. There is no dispute about the circumstances through which Carr was listed as an emergency contact, nor is there any suggestion at all that she was present when her name was added

to the contact information. (Vol. 33, R757-78).<sup>47</sup> The jury was well-aware of how Carr came to be added as an "emergency contact," and was well able to assess the weight to be given the evidence.

Carr does not claim that the records at issue do not satisfy the §90.803(6) business record exception to the hearsay rule. Instead, she says that she is "prejudiced" because an "official business record" connected her to her co-defendant. Adverse evidence is, by definition, prejudicial -- otherwise there would be no reason to offer it. However, that does not somehow become an issue of constitutional dimension. In this case the "adverse evidence" was the business record, and Carr was well able to challenge it on cross-examination. The business record evidence has no confrontation clause component to it. 48

In any event, Carr waived any objection to this evidence, which was the subject of a pre-trial ruling that it was admissible. (Vol. 20, R560-71). However, when the evidence was offered at trial, Carr's counsel affirmatively said "no objection." (Vol. 33, R765-66). Notwithstanding §90.104, a rule of law that the opponent of certain evidence can object pre-trial, affirmatively state "no objection" at trial, and have a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The records custodian knew Carr because her children had attended the same school. (Vol.33, R776).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Alternatively and secondarily, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.  $DiGuilio\ v.\ State,\ 491\ So.\ 2d\ 1129\ (Fla.\ 1986).$ 

preserved evidentiary issue for appeal makes no sense at all. If defense counsel had said nothing, had said "as previously argued" (for example), or addressed the issue at a bench conference, the situation would be different. And, as noted in note 10, supra, Carr renewed objections to other pre-trial rulings.

The scenario that Carr has generated is similar to a defendant who objected initially objected to the jury and then accepted it immediately before the panel was sworn. No one would seriously argue that the act of accepting the jury did not waive the prior objection, and this circumstance is no different. Any other result encourages gamesmanship and supplies an automatic escape hatch if a changed strategy fails. The Evidence Code was not intended to allow continual position-switching, and this Court should not add such a provision into it. Carr affirmatively waived her prior objections.

#### THE EXCLUDED HEARSAY

On pages 32-38 of her brief, Carr says that certain hearsay statements about the relationship between the victim and codefendant Fulgham that she wanted to introduce were wrongly excluded because the "opportunity to rebut" component of § 921.141(1) of the Florida Statutes does not apply to the State, but rather only applies to the defendant. Carr implies that Hicthcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990) is no longer good

law after Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), (see footnote 7 at page 35-36), but neglects to cite the following, post-Crawford, decision:

Our review of the record in this case shows that the trial court did not abuse its discretion excluding the evidence in question. In instances the evidence was actually presented through testimony or videotaped depositions of individuals who had first-hand knowledge of information, rather than through the testimony of the mitigation specialist who was asked to relate her conversations with these individuals. In several other instances, the defense attempted to introduce hearsay statements made by the Frances brothers, neither of whom testified at trial and thus were not subject to the State's cross-examination. Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (2006), provides in pertinent part: "Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements." While the statute "relaxes the evidentiary rules during the penalty phase of a capital trial, the statute clearly states that the defendant must have an opportunity to fairly rebut the hearsay evidence in order for it to be admissible. This rule applies to the State as well." Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399, 411-12 (Fla. 2000) (citation omitted); see also Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1990) (finding no merit to claim that state's ability to introduce hearsay in a penalty proceeding is limited while a defendant's ability to introduce hearsay unlimited). Additionally, the defense was able to of some the information through opinion testimony of the mental health expert. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded these hearsay statements by the brothers.

Frances v. State, 970 So. 2d 806, 813-814 (Fla. 2007). In any event, as was the case in Frances, evidence about the relationship between the victim and Fulgham was before the jury,

as was evidence of the relationship between Carr and Fulgham. The hearsay evidence was properly excluded, and there is no  $^{49}$ 

# II. THE DENIAL OF A CONTINUANCE CLAIM

On pages 39-46 of her brief, Carr says that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied her motion to continue the penalty phase of her capital trial. Motions for continuance are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. In Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 2000), the Florida Supreme Court held that the granting of a continuance is within the trial court's discretion, and the trial court's ruling will only be reversed when an abuse of discretion is shown. An abuse of discretion is generally not found unless the trial court's ruling on the continuance results in undue prejudice to the defendant, and it is an appellate court's obligation to review with caution the exercise of experienced discretion by a trial judge in matters such as a motion for a continuance. Carr cannot show an abuse of discretion because she cannot identify a motion to continue that preserved anything for review.

Throughout her brief, Carr identifies only **one** instance where she requested a continuance. (V30, R395). That motion was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Carr's only argument is that the hearsay rule should not apply to her. There is no argument that the evidence at issue is not hearsay, nor is there any exception to the hearsay rule identified in Carr's brief.

predicated on counsel's claimed difficulties in communication with the penalty phase mental state expert. Through the efforts of the State (which they volunteered to do), a subpoena was served on the expert, and she appeared in court. Following discussion, that expert represented that she could be ready for any penalty phase so long as she did not have to write a report. (Vol. 32, R.567-68). Counsel never said anything else about a continuance, and there is nothing preserved for further review. F.B. v. State, 852 So. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 2003); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Even if the motion to continue somehow survived the statements of the mental state expert that she could be ready so long as no report was required, and also survived trial counsel's failure to renew the motion, there can be no abuse of discretion. In the face of the expert's testimony that she could be ready to testify at the penalty phase, the trial court was clearly justified in denying the motion to continue. There is no basis for relief.

Throughout this issue, Carr discusses various other "issues," the majority of which are inaccurately described,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Of course, not writing a report worked no prejudice at all to the defense. As with the other instances of "unpreparedness" mentioned in Carr's brief, the only prejudice was to the State because it was forced to prepare on short notice with less than full information. See, V16, R28 (". . . not fair to keep doing this" to the State.) The defense was not prejudiced at all.

taken out of context, or meaningless. By not addressing each "issue" individually, the State should not be understood to have conceded anything. For example, it is true that defense counsel's daughter was hospitalized due to an accident, but counsel never asked for a delay based on that event, and later turned it to her advantage in closing argument. (V43, R2237-38). Likewise, the fact that the trial court made specific findings that trial counsel had not been ineffective (in a Nelson context) is not improper. (V16, R34-35). Finally, there has been no showing that the testimony of the mental state expert would have somehow changed (or "improved") if the penalty phase had been postponed. There is no error and no basis for relief.

## III. THE CLOSING ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 47-52 of her brief, Carr says that two specific arguments made during the State's penalty phase closing were "erroneous." Florida law is settled that

[w]ide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). It is within the judge's discretion to control the comments made to a jury, and we will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990); Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

There was never a need for a true *Nelson/Faretta* inquiry. The trial court's findings were made in an abundance of caution -- they do not supply a basis for criticism of that court, much less a basis for relief.

Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997). The arguments about which Carr complains were not improper at all — they were factual arguments based squarely in the evidence. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in any way, and there is no basis for relief. There certainly was no basis for a mistrial, which is the relief that the defendant sought, and which is also reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999).

Carr's first argument is that it was error for the State to argue that the fact that she was sexually abused was not factually connected to the murder of Heather Strong, and that, while it should be considered as a mitigating circumstance, it was not entitled to significant weight under the facts of this case. That is an accurate statement of the law, and is exactly what the sentencing court is required to do: determine if the facts argued as mitigation are mitigating in nature under the facts of the case. Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121, 1134-1135 (Fla. 2001). See also, Ellerbee v. State, 2012 WL 652793, 12 (Fla. Mar. 1, 2012); Tanzi v. State, 964 So. 2d 106, 119-120 (Fla. 2007); Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 875 (Fla. 2006); Lugo v. State, 845 So. 2d 74, 116 (Fla. 2003); Crook v. State, 813 So. 2d 68, 74 (Fla. 2002); Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1055 (Fla. 2000). There is no error at all, let alone a basis for granting a mistrial.

The second argument about which Carr complains is that her "mothering" was improperly compared to "Heather's caring for her own children who were now placed in an adoptive home." Initial Brief, at 48. The State's argument was no more than a statement of the obvious. If Carr chose to argue that the fact that she was a "good mother" was mitigation, it was reasonable, and entirely proper, for the State to point out the obvious effect of her crime in reference to the significance of that fact as mitigation. The State is entitled to arque against significance of proffered mitigation, and there was no error here. McGirth v. State, 48 So. 3d 777, 789-790 (Fla. 2010); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 958-959 (Fla. 2003); 52 Gonzalez v. State, 786 So. 2d 559, 568-569 (Fla. 2001). There was no abuse of discretion, nor was there a basis for declaring a mistrial. There is no basis for relief.

In any event, the jury was properly instructed that the arguments of counsel are not evidence, (V42, R2178), and that sympathy should not play a role in the deliberations. (V42, R2247). There was no abuse of discretion, and there is no basis for reversal.

The comments in this case are not even the "unfortunate" comments at issue in *Doorbal*. The comments in Carr's case are not improper at all.

Finally, Carr's argument that the "cumulative effect" of the two identified arguments is a basis for relief fails. There is no error to "cumulate" in the first place.

# IV. THE SENTENCING ORDER CLAIM $\frac{53}{}$

On pages 53-64 of her brief, Carr says that the sentencing court erred in its weighing of the various mitigation evidence. The weight to be given to a particular mitigator is within the trial court's discretion. Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997). See also, Bevel v. State, 983 So. 2d 505, 521-522 (Fla. 2008); Rodgers v. State, 948 So. 2d 655, 668-669 (Fla. 2006); Stewart v. State, 872 So. 2d 226, 228 (Fla. 2003); Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998). However, if a mitigator is found to merely exist, but not be mitigating based on the facts, the sentencing court does not have to give it any weight. Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2001); Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 2000). And:

This Court has adopted the definition of a mitigating circumstance from the United States Supreme Court, as "any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense" that reasonably may serve as a basis for imposing a sentence less than death. Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 n. 4 (Fla. 1990) (quoting Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 604, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978)), receded from in part by Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 2000).

The State does not concede that there is any error within the sentencing order. However, even if there were, the proper remedy would be a remand for the entry of a corrected order, not relief from the death sentence.

Crook v. State, 813 So. 2d 68, 74 (Fla. 2002) (emphasis added); Tanzi v. State, 964 So. 2d 106, 118 (Fla. 2007). In this case, none of the "mitigators" at issue were given "no weight" by the sentencing court. Carr's individual complaints are addressed in the order in which they appear in her brief.

Carr's claim that it was error for the sentencing court to state that there was no "nexus" between the mitigation and the murder is not a basis for relief. It is true that the trial court pointed out that there is no "nexus" between the murder and Carr's "poor upbringing," her "lack of a protecting mother," her dysfunctional family, and the sexual abuse to which she was subjected. However, it is also true that each of those factors was given some weight as mitigation -- when the sentencing order is fairly read, the term "nexus" was used to refer to the fact that the "mitigation" existed (and was found), but was entitled to little weight. Carr's claim is really that the trial court did not give enough weight to this "mitigation" -- that is a matter that is within the trial court's discretion, and the trial court should not be criticized for explaining why it gave no more weight to the matters at issue. This claim is not a basis for any relief.

The claim that the trial court made "improper use of defense counsel's opening statement" by quoting part of that

argument in the sentencing order makes no sense. The reference at V10, R1938-9 and R1946-7 of the Sentencing Order is no more or less than a reference to what defense counsel said in argument which was consistent with the expert testimony. The reference to the statement at the *Spencer* hearing that Carr "was the promise of her family" is, again, a reference to a statement by counsel that was consistent with the evidence. How either of these statements can be criticized in unclear.

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